IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,)
)
 Plaintiff-Appellee,)
)
 v.) S.CT. NO. 20-0280
)
 JORDAN MCKIM CRAWFORD,)
)
 Defendant-Appellant.)

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR JEFFERSON COUNTY
HONORABLE LUCY J. GAMON, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

MARTHA LUCEY
State Appellate Defender

MARIA RUHTENBERG
Assistant Appellate Defender
MRuhtenberg@spd.state.ia.us
appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE
Fourth Floor Lucas Building
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX

ATTORNEY'S FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT FINAL

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether there is insufficient evidence to convict the defendant of aiding and abetting robbery or ongoing criminal conduct?

Authorities

State v. Thomas, 561 N.W.2d 37, 39 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Hrbek, 336 N.W.2d 431, 435-36 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Lucas, 323 N.W.2d 228, 232 (Iowa 1982)

State v. Osborn, 573 N.W.2d 917, 920 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Williams, 695 N.W.2d 23, 27-28 (Iowa 2005)

State v. Nitcher, 720 N.W.2d 547, 556 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Keopasa euth, 645 N.W.2d 637, 640 (Iowa 2002)

State v. Turner, 345 N.W.2d 553, 555-556 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Robinson, 288 N.W.2d 337, 339 (Iowa 1980)

State v. Hamilton, 309 N.W.2d 471, 479 (Iowa 1981)

A. Aiding and Abetting Robbery in the First Degree

Iowa Code § 703.1 (2017)

State v. Hearn, 797 N.W.2d 577, 580 (Iowa 2011)

State v. Ramirez, 616 N.W.2d 587, 591-92 (Iowa 2000),
overruled on other grounds by State v. Reeves, 636 N.W.2d 22,
25-26 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Barnes, 204 N.W.2d 827, 828 (Iowa 1972)

State v. Henderson, 908 N.W.2d 868, 876 Iowa 2018)

Rosemond v. United States, 572 U.S. 65, 75-76, 134 S. Ct.
1240, 1248 (2014)

B. Ongoing Criminal Conduct

Iowa Code § 706A.2(1)(c) (2019)

State v. Olsen, 618 N.W.2d 346, 348-49 (Iowa 2000)

Iowa Code §§ 706A.1(c), (d) (2017)

Iowa Code § 706A.1(5) (2019)

State v. Reed, 618 N.W.2d 327, 334-35 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Banes, 910 N.W.2d 634, 640-41 (Iowa Ct. App. 2018)

Midwest Heritage Bank, FSB v. Northway, 576 N.W. 2d 588,
591 (Iowa 1998)

C. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688 (1984)

State v. Maxwell, 743 N.W.2d 185, 195 (Iowa 2008)

Rompilla v. Beard, 545 U.S. 374, 380 (2005)

State v. Clay, 824 N.W.2d 488, 496 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Truesdell, 679, N.W.2d 611, 615-16 (Iowa 2004)

Iowa Code § 814.7 (2019)

1. Iowa Code § 814.7 is a violation of Crawford's due process rights and his right to effective assistance of appellate counsel:

U.S. Const. amend XIV

Iowa Const. art. I § 9

Kimmelman v. Morrison, 477 U.S. 365, 374, 106 S. Ct. 2574, 2582 (1986)

Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 344, 83 S.Ct. 792, 796 (1963)

Evitts v. Lucey, 469 U.S. 387, 394, 105 S.Ct. 830, 835 (1985)

U.S. v. Cronin, 466 U.S. 648, 654, 104 S.Ct. 2039, 2044 (1984)

State v. Goff, 342 N.W.2d 830, 837-38 (Iowa 1983)

Douglas v. People of State of Cal., 372 U.S. 353, 83 S.Ct. 814 (1963)

Griffin v. Illinois, 351 U.S. 12, 76 S.Ct. 585 (1956)

2. Iowa Code § 814.7 improperly restricts the role and jurisdiction of Iowa's appellate courts:

Klouda v. Sixth Judicial Dist. Dept. of Correctional Services, 642 N.W.2d 255, 260 (Iowa 2002)

State v. Phillips, 610 N.W.2d 840, 842 (Iowa 2000)

Planned Parenthood of the Heartland v. Reynolds ex rel. State, 915 N.W.2d 206, 212 (Iowa 2018)

Iowa Const. art. V, § 1

Franklin v. Bonner, 207 N.W.2d 778, 779 (Iowa 1926)

Iowa Const. art. V, § 4

Iowa Const. art. V, § 6

In re Guardianship of Matejski, 419 N.W.2d 576, 577 (Iowa 1988)

Laird Brothers v. Dickerson, 40 Iowa 665, 670 (1875)

Schrier v. State, 573 N.W.2d 242, 244–45 (Iowa 1997)

In re Durant Comm. Sch. Dist., 106 N.W.2d 670, 676 (Iowa 1960)

Wissenberg v. Bradley, 229 N.W.2d 20 (Iowa 1929)

McKane v. Durston, 153 U.S. 684, 687–88 (1894)

Cassandra Burke Robinson, The Right to Appeal, 91 N.C.L. Rev. 1219, 1221 (2013)

Marc M. Arkin, Rethinking the Constitutional Right to an Appeal, 39 UCLA L. Rev. 503 (1992)

Jones v. Barnes, 463 U.S. 745, 756 n. 1 (1983)

In re Chambers, 152 N.W.2d 818, 820 (Iowa 1967)

Waldon v. District Court of Lee County, 130 N.W.2d 728, 731 (Iowa 1964)

Iowa Code § 602.4102(2) (2019)

Varnum v. Brien, 763 N.W.2d 862, 875–76 (Iowa 2009)

U.S. Const. amend. VI

U.S. Const. amend. XIV

Iowa Const. art. I, § 10

State v. Ambrose, 861 N.W.2d 550, 556 (Iowa 2015)

D. Plain Error

Wiborg v. U.S., 163 U.S. 632, 658, 16 S.Ct. 1127, 1137 (1896)

Fed. Rule Crim. Proc. 52

Fed. Rule Evid. 103(e) (2020)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.102 (2020)

State v. Truesdell, 679 N.W.2d 611, 616 (Iowa 2004)

State v. McAdams, 594 A.2d 1273, 1275 (N.H. 1991)

Gates v. State, 6298 Ga. 324, 326, 781 S.E.2d 772, 775 (2016)

Breedlove v. State, 310 Kan. 56, 70 445 P.3d 1101, 1111
(2019)

State v. Johns, 454 P.3d 692, 697 (2019)

State v. Bueso, 225 N.J. 193, 202, 137 A.3d 516, 570 (2016)

State v. Rutledge, 600 N.W.2d 324, 325 (Iowa 1999)

Snethen v. State, 308 N.W.2d 11, 16 (Iowa 1981)

State v. Ingram, 914 N.W.2d 794, 799 (Iowa 2018)

State v. McCright, 569 N.W.2d 605, 607 (Iowa 1997)

Rhoads v. State, 848 N.W.2d 22, 33 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Sahinovic, No. 15-0737, 2016 WL 1683039, at *2
(Iowa Ct. App. April 27, 2016)

United States v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725, 734, 113 S.Ct. 1770,
1777 (1993)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be transferred to the Court of Appeals because the issues raised involve applying existing legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(3)(a).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: This is an appeal from a conviction and sentence following a jury trial for aiding and abetting robbery in the first degree and ongoing criminal conduct in Jefferson County case number FECR004933.

Course of Proceedings: On July 3, 2019, the State charged the defendant, Jordan McKim Crawford, with aiding and abetting robbery in the first degree in violation of Iowa Code sections 711.1(1), 711.2, and 793.1 (2019), a class B felony. (Trial Information) (App. pp. 7-8). Crawford entered a not guilty plea on July 18, 2019. (Written Arraignment and Plea of Not Guilty) (App. p. 9). On September 4, 2019, the State filed an Amended Trial Information, which added the charge of Ongoing Criminal Conduct in violation of Iowa Code sections

706A.2(1)(d) and 706A.1(5) (2019), a class B felony.

(Amended Trial Information) (App. pp. 10-12). The case was tried to a jury beginning October 22, 2019. (Trial tr. Day 1, p. 1, L. 1-25). On October 28, 2019, the jury convicted the defendant of both charges. (Verdict Form – Count I, Verdict Form – Count II) (App. pp. 21-22). On February 3, 2020, the court sentenced the defendant to two prison terms not to exceed 25 years. The sentences were run concurrently with each other. (Judgment and Sentence) (App. pp. 25-30). On February 7, 2020, the defendant filed a notice of appeal. (Notice of Appeal) (App. pp. 31-32).

Facts: On June 1, 2018, Ethan Spray robbed the Pilot Grove Savings Bank in Packwood, Iowa, at gunpoint. (Trial tr., Day 2, p. 7, L. 12-19; p. 10, L. 20 – p. 11, L. 3; Day 3, p. 15, L. 8-14). Following the robbery, he left the bank and got into his Buick, where Ross Thornton was waiting. They drove out of town where Thornton has left his truck. (Trial tr. Day 3, p. 20, L. 12-24). Thornton took \$14,000 that Spray took from

the bank. He also took Spray's clothing and left in the truck. Thornton burned the clothes. (Trial tr. Day 3, p. 19, L. 25 – p. 20, L. 24). According to Spray, the defendant, Jordan Crawford, had given Spray a hat or mask that he wore during the robbery. He testified that Crawford was supposed to give him gloves as well, but he did not. (Trial tr. Day 3, p. 17, L. 10-16; p. 18, L. 3-8). After the robbery, Spray stated that he went to a residence where he, Thornton, and Crawford were present. He stated that they burned the bands that were around the money and that Crawford was in and out of the room and "barely" helped him burn the bands. (Trial tr. Day 3, p. 22, L. 3 – p. 23, L. 7). The three men thereafter left on a trip out west. (Trial tr. Day 3, p. 27, L. 16-23). According to Spray, the three men had previously attempted to break into an ATM machine at a different bank. (Trial tr. Day 3, p. 28, L. 2-15).

During the course of the investigation, police officers found money that was stolen from the bank at Thornton's

residence. (Trial tr. Day 2, p. 151, L. 19-21). In August of 2018, Police found \$470 in the defendant's possession; however, none of that money was traced back to the bank in Packwood. (Trial tr. Day 2, p.40, L. 17- 25; p. 47, L. 9-12; p. 51, L. 24 – p. 52, L. 3). Spray testified that he was not sure if Crawford was ever given any money from the bank robbery. (Trial tr. Day 3, p. 44, L. 22-24). During this time, the defendant was employed and was paid \$1262 by his employer on July 12, 2018. (Trial tr. Day 3, p. 116, L. 4-14; Defendant's Ex. E) (Conf. App. p. 141).

The police investigation connected Crawford to Thornton through cell phones and a truck. Crawford and Thornton had a cell phone registered to both of them. Crawford also had another cell phone registered to him. (Trail tr. Day 2, p. 89, L. 6-12; p. 107, L. 13 – p. 108, L. 4). Around the time of the robbery, four calls were made between these two cell phones. (Trial tr. Day 2, p. 99 – p. 100, L. 24). The truck that Thornton drove after the bank robbery was registered to

Crawford and insured by Thornton. (Trial tr. Day 2, p. 42, L. 2-4; Day 3, p. 16, L. 20 – p. 17, L. 4). According to Spray, Crawford and Thornton were living at the same residence at the time of the robbery. (Trial tr. Day 3, p. 18, L. 22 – p. 19, L. 5).

During the investigation, police obtained records of Crawford's Facebook messages. According to police, the conversations contained in those messages appeared to indicate that the defendant was trying to sell marijuana. (Trial tr. Day 2, p. 134, L. 5 – p. 136, L. 15; p. 139, L. 13-21).

Crawford was arrested and charged with aiding and abetting the bank in Packwood and for ongoing criminal conduct based on the Packwood robbery, the attempted ATM robbery and Crawford's attempt to sell marijuana. (Trial Information) (App. pp. 7-8).

Further relevant facts will be discussed below.

ARGUMENT

There is insufficient evidence to convict the defendant of aiding and abetting robbery or ongoing criminal conduct.

Preservation of Error and Standard of Review: The court reviews sufficiency of the evidence challenges for corrections of errors at law. State v. Thomas, 561 N.W.2d 37, 39 (Iowa 1997). The defendant moved for a motion for judgment of acquittal at the end of the State’s case. In addition, the defendant filed a written “Motion for Directed Verdict of Acquittal.” (Trial tr. Day 3, p. 92, L. 19 – p. 95, L. 25; Motion for Directed Verdict of Acquittal) (App. pp. 13-15). Counsel for the defendant argued that the state failed to present credible proof that Crawford was involved in ongoing criminal activity, that the State failed to prove the specified indictable offenses on a continuing basis, and that the State failed to present sufficient proof that Crawford aided and abetted Spray’s robbery. (Trial tr. Day 3, p. 92, L. 19 – p. 95, L. 25; Motion for Directed Verdict of Acquittal) (App. pp. 13-15). The Court denied the motion. (Trial tr. Day 3, p. 103, L. 10 – p.

104, L. 21). At the end of the evidence, counsel for the defendant renewed the motion and the court again denied it. (Trial tr. Day 4, p. 3, L. 12 – p. 4, L. 3). Error therefore was preserved.

If the court finds that error was not adequately preserved, counsel was ineffective in failing to do so and the court should consider the issues under the ineffective assistance of counsel framework. Counsel's failure to preserve error can constitute ineffective assistance of counsel, and, therefore, the Iowa Supreme Court allows an exception to error preservation rules in ineffective assistance of counsel claims. State v. Hrbek, 336 N.W.2d 431, 435-36 (Iowa 1983); State v. Lucas, 323 N.W.2d 228, 232 (Iowa 1982). Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel concern constitutional rights, and the standard of review is therefore de novo. State v. Osborn, 573 N.W.2d 917, 920 (Iowa 1998).

Discussion: In reviewing challenges to the sufficiency of evidence, the court considers all of the evidence viewed “in the

light most favorable to the State, including all reasonable inferences that may be fairly drawn from the evidence.” State v. Williams, 695 N.W.2d 23, 27-28 (Iowa 2005). A verdict will be upheld only if substantial evidence in the record supports it. State v. Nitcher, 720 N.W.2d 547, 556 (Iowa 2006). The court considers all the evidence presented, not only inculpatory evidence. State v. Keopasa euth, 645 N.W.2d 637, 640 (Iowa 2002). Evidence is considered substantial if it can convince a rational jury that the defendant is guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. Williams, 695 N.W.2d at 27-28. In reviewing a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, the relevant question is whether a rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. See State v. Turner, 345 N.W.2d 553, 555-556 (Iowa 1983); State v. Robinson, 288 N.W.2d 337, 339 (Iowa 1980). The evidence presented “must raise a fair inference of guilt and do more than create speculation, suspicion, or conjecture.” State v. Hamilton, 309 N.W.2d 471, 479 (Iowa

1981).

A. Aiding and Abetting Robbery in the First Degree

The defendant was convicted of aiding and abetting the armed robbery of the Packwood bank. During the trial, the defendant did not contest the fact that Ethan Spray robbed the bank. The defense argued that the defendant did not aid and abet that robbery. The Iowa Code defines “Aiding and Abetting” as follows:

All persons concerned in the commission of a public offense, whether they directly commit the act constituting the offense or aid and abet its commission, shall be charged, tried and punished as principals. *The guilt of a person who aids and abets the commission of a crime must be determined upon the facts which show the part the person had in it, and does not depend upon the degree of another person's guilt.*

Iowa Code § 703.1 (2017) (emphasis added). “To sustain a conviction under a theory of aiding and abetting, ‘the record must contain substantial evidence the accused assented to or lent countenance and approval to the criminal act by either actively participating or encouraging it prior to or at the time of its commission.’” State v. Hearn, 797 N.W.2d 577, 580

(Iowa 2011) (quoting State v. Ramirez, 616 N.W.2d 587, 591-92 (Iowa 2000), *overruled on other grounds by* State v. Reeves, 636 N.W.2d 22, 25-26 (Iowa 2001). “Knowledge is essential; however, neither knowledge nor presence at the scene of the crime is sufficient to prove aiding and abetting.” State v. Barnes, 204 N.W.2d 827, 828 (Iowa 1972). In State v. Henderson, 908 N.W.2d 868, 876 (Iowa 2018), this Court explained that “under a joint criminal conduct theory, the question is whether the charged, later crime was foreseeable, regardless of whether the defendant had the specific intent to commit that crime or knowledge that his or her compatriot was committing the crime.” However, “[t]he same is not true under the theory of aiding and abetting. There the defendant must have ‘knowingly aided the principal’ in committing the crime.” Id. “[A]n aiding and abetting conviction requires not just an act facilitating one or another element, but also a state of mind extending to the entire crime.” Rosemond v. United States, 572 U.S. 65, 75-76, 134 S. Ct. 1240, 1248 (2014).

“[I]n the context of a first-degree robbery prosecution under the dangerous weapon alternative, the State must prove the alleged aider and abettor had knowledge that a dangerous weapon would be or was being used.” Henderson, 908 N.W.2d at 876. “Otherwise, the aider and abettor may have knowledge or intent to commit a robbery, but not *first-degree* robbery. Id. (emphasis in original). In this case, the State failed to prove the defendant aided and abetted in the robbery, and the robbery in the first degree. The court instructed the jury on Robbery in the First Degree as follows:

As to Count I, The State must prove all of the following elements of Aiding and Abetting Robbery in the First Degree:

1. On or about the 1st day of June, 2018, the defendant had the specific intent to commit a theft, either as principal or as aider and abettor.
2. To carry out his intention or to assist another to commit the theft or to escape from the scene, with or without the stolen property, the defendant aided and abetted another in the robbery of the Pilot Grove Savings Bank, during which time Darrell Hoehne was threatened with, or purposefully placed in immediate fear of serious injury.
3. The defendant aided and abetted another who was armed with a dangerous weapon.

If the State has proved all of the elements, the

defendant is guilty of Aiding and Abetting Robbery in the First Degree. . . .

(Jury Instruction No. 18) (App. p. 16).

The State produced evidence that the defendant supplied a hat or a facemask to Ethan Spray. (Trial tr. Day 3, p. 17, L. 10-16; p. 46, L. 14-23). The State did not present proof that the defendant supplied the hat or mask to Spray with the specific intent that it be used in the robbery. In fact, Spray's testimony that the defendant failed to supply gloves tends to show that the defendant was not aware that he was supplying Spray with means to commit the robbery. (Trial tr. Day 3, p. 18, L. 3-8). Spray testified that the defendant was not part of the planning of the Packwood bank robbery. (Trial tr. Day 3, p. 46, L. 7-10). The State did not produce any evidence that the defendant had the specific intent to commit a robbery as an aider or an abettor. The State failed to prove the defendant aided and abetted this robbery.

Further the State failed prove he aided and abetted robbery in the first degree, because it produced no evidence

that the defendant knew that Spray would be armed while he robbed the bank. According to Spray, the defendant had nothing to do with the gun he used in the robbery. (Trail tr. Day 3, p. 45, L. 7-16).

Spray failed to testify that the defendant knew, encouraged or lent countenance to the robbery. Knowledge of a crime is not enough. This conviction should be vacated and remanded for dismissal.

B. Ongoing Criminal Conduct

The State charged the defendant with violating Iowa Code section 706A.2(1)(d) (2019), which is the section that concerns specified unlawful activity influenced enterprises. Under subsection (d), it is “unlawful for any person to conspire or attempt to violate or to solicit or facilitate the violations of the provisions of paragraph ‘a’, ‘b’, or ‘c’”. Of paragraphs “a”, “b”, or “c”, it appears the State prosecuted the defendant under paragraph “c”, which provides that it is “unlawful for any person to knowingly conduct the affairs of any enterprise

through specified unlawful activity or to knowingly participate, directly or indirectly, in any enterprise that the person knows is being conducted through specified unlawful activity.” Iowa Code § 706A.2(1)(c) (2019). The State chose to prosecute the defendant under the “specified unlawful activity influenced enterprises” alternative rather than the “acts of specified unlawful activity” alternative. See State v. Olsen, 618 N.W.2d 346, 348-49 (Iowa 2000).

The court instructed the jury on this charge as follows on the charge of Ongoing Criminal Conduct:

As to Count II, the State must prove that the defendant committed all of the following elements of Commission of Specified Unlawful Activity Influenced Enterprises, Ongoing Criminal Conduct:

1. During the time period from May 29, 2018, through June 15, 2018, the defendant participated, directly or indirectly, in an enterprise.
2. The defendant knew the enterprise was being conducted through specified unlawful activity on a continuing basis, to wit: a) the theft of money from the Brighton, Iowa ATM; and/or b) the robbery of the Pilot Grove Savings in Packwood, Iowa Bank; and/or c) the distribution either attempted to completed, or marijuana.

If the State has proved both of the above elements, the Defendant is guilty of Commission of Specified Unlawful Activity Influenced Enterprises, Ongoing

Criminal Conduct. . . .

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