IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 20–0280

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellee,

VS.

JORDAN MCKIM CRAWFORD, Defendant-Appellant.

> APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR JEFFERSON COUNTY THE HONORABLE LUCY J. GAMON, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

ZACHARY MILLER

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 (515) 281-4902 (fax) zachary.miller@ag.iowa.gov

CHAUNCEY T. MOULDING Jefferson County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

confederate's residence listed a single pound for \$2,200 and multiple pounds for \$2,000 per pound. Trial Tr. Day 3, 72:22 to 73:23; Ex.5B; App.23. Police also found "50 to \$55,000" at Thornton's residence. Trial Tr. Day 3, 90:24 to 91:2. And a note found at Spray's asserted that the FBI was on to them. *Id.* at 76:5–12; Ex.5C; App.24.

These facts show that the completed crimes—theft and robbery—were related to the threat of continuing crime, that is marijuana sales. The State proved that the defendant and his confederates stole from the ATM and robbed the Bank to finance their marijuana distribution plan. And they took considerable steps to carryout that plan. The State showed that their criminal acts created a risk of continuing criminal acts in the future, proving continuity. *See Reed*, 618 N.W.2d at 335 (proof that drug dealing would continue in future satisfied continuity element).

Alternatively, the jury could have found "a closed period of repeated conduct" to satisfy the continuity element. *See id.* at 334–35. As just explained, the defendant stole from an ATM and aided and abetted the bank robbery. He then used the proceeds to buy marijuana. And the jury could have found—using his Facebook messages and the unexplained \$55,000 found at his confederate's

residence—that he distributed that marijuana in the weeks after he returned to Iowa from. These repeated drug sales satisfy a closed concept of continuity. *See State v. Moody*, No. 13–0576, 2014 WL 5861763, at *13 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 13, 2014) ("When [an] individual performs illegal drug transactions on a continual basis constituting a specified unlawful activity, he or she is guilty of ongoing criminal conduct.").

* * *

The State offered sufficient evidence that the defendant aided and abetted robbery and committed ongoing criminal conduct. This Court should therefore affirm both convictions.

II. The defendant cannot raise an ineffective assistance claim on direct appeal.

Preservation of Error

The defendant argues that Iowa Code section 814.7's prohibition on raising ineffectiveness claims on direct appeal violates the United States and Iowa constitutions. Defendant Br. at 33–46. Normally, he could raise this issue for the first time on appeal. But he does not actually argue that his counsel was ineffective. Instead, he says that if his counsel did not preserve the sufficiency arguments he makes, then the court can address them via ineffective assistance.

Defendant Br. at 21. But he does not actually argue his counsel was ineffective. *See generally id.* For example, he argues neither breach nor prejudice. *Cf.* Defendant Br. at 51 (asserting in his plain error argument that he previously explained how counsel breached a duty and he suffered prejudice on his sufficiency claim without arguing either point). Because the defendant does not assert an ineffectiveness claim, this Court need not decide his constitutional challenges to section 814.7 because doing so would be academic.

Standard of Review

This Court reviews constitutional questions de novo. $State\ v$. $Newton, 929\ N.W.2d\ 250, 254\ (Iowa\ 2019).$

Merits

The defendant argues that section 814.7 violates his "due process rights and his right to effective assistance of appellate counsel." Defendant Br. at 36 (bold removed). He also says that section 814.7 "improperly restricts the role and jurisdiction of Iowa's appellate courts." *Id.* at 39 (bold removed). The State takes his arguments in turn.

A. Section 814.7 violates neither Due Process nor the Right to Counsel because defendants can still litigate ineffective assistance claims and have counsel at every stage.

The defendant argues that section 814.7 violates his "due process rights and his right to effective assistance of appellate counsel." Defendant Br. at 36 (bold removed). His argument fails.

To begin, the defendant has counsel on appeal. *See* Defendant Br. He also had counsel in the district court. *See*, *e.g.*, Trial Tr. Day 1, 1. If he files a PCR application, he has the right to counsel in the trial court and on appeal. Iowa Code § 822.5; *Allison v. State*, 914 N.W.2d 866, 871 (Iowa 2018). In short, section 814.7 does not prohibit him from having counsel, it just changes the forum to raise an ineffectiveness claim attacking trial counsel's performance. That does not deny him his Right to Counsel at all, much less on appeal.

Nor does it violate Due Process. The United States Supreme

Court has held that "a State is not required by the Federal

Constitution to provide appellate courts or a right to appellate review at all." *Griffin*, 351 U.S. at 18. And the Iowa Supreme Court has said:

"In Iowa the right of appeal is statutory and not constitutional."

¹ The defendant references both the Iowa and United States constitutions but makes a single argument, so the State does likewise.

Hinners, 471 N.W.2d at 843. If the defendant is not entitled to an appeal from his convictions at all, Due Process surely does not demand he be allowed to raise an ineffective-assistance claim on direct appeal instead of in PCR.

This Court should reject his Right to Counsel and Due Process claims.

B. Requiring defendants to litigate ineffectiveness claims in post-conviction-relief actions does not violate separation of powers.

The Iowa Constitution establishes the Supreme Court as a tribunal for the correction of errors at law, "under such restrictions as the general assembly may, by law, prescribe." Iowa Const. Art. V, § 4. Consistent with the text of the Iowa Constitution, the Supreme Court has repeatedly held that appellate jurisdiction in Iowa is "statutory and not constitutional." *State v. Hinners*, 471 N.W.2d 841, 843 (Iowa 1991).

To that end, "when the Legislature prescribes the method for the exercise of the right of appeal or supervision, such method is exclusive, and neither court nor judge may modify these rules without express statutory authority, and then only to the extent specified." *Home Sav. & Tr. Co. v. Dist. Court*, 95 N.W. 522, 524 (Iowa 1903). In other words, "the power is clearly given to the General Assembly to

restrict this appellate jurisdiction." *Lampson v. Platt*, 1 Iowa 556, 560 (1855) (comma omitted).²

Being "purely statutory," the grant of "appellate review is ... subject to strict construction." *Iowa Dep't of Revenue v. Iowa Merit Employment Comm'n*, 243 N.W.2d 610, 614 (Iowa 1976). Absent a statute authorizing an appeal, this Court cannot acquire jurisdiction by an appeal. *See Crowe v. De Soto Consol. Sch. Dist.*, 66 N.W.2d 859, 860 (Iowa 1954) ("It is our duty to reject an appeal not authorized by statute."). Such authorizing statutes can be modified, and the authority to hear a particular class of appellate cases "may be granted or denied by the legislature as it determines." *James v. State*, 479 N.W.2d 287, 290 (Iowa 1991). Under Iowa's constitutional structure, the role of the judiciary is to decide controversies, but the

² *Lampson* involved interpretation of a materially identical predecessor provision in the 1846 Constitution. The only difference between the 1846 and 1857 provisions is that commas were added to set off "by law," as follows: "shall constitute a court for the correction of errors at law, under such restrictions as the general assembly may, by law, prescribe." Iowa Const. Art. V, § 3 (1846). These commas did not change the provision's meaning.

And if there was any lingering question about a potential change in meaning over time, it is relevant that the Court's territorial analogue also had its jurisdiction "limited by law." See United States ex rel James Davenport & Pet. for Mandamus to Cty. Commissioners of Dubuque Cty., Bradf. 5, 11 (Iowa Terr. 1840), 1840 WL 4020.

General Assembly is the arbiter of which "avenue of appellate review is deemed appropriate" for a particular class of cases. *See Shortridge* v. *State*, 478 N.W.2d 613, 615 (Iowa 1991), *superseded by statute on other grounds*.

These holdings show that the legislative branch in Iowa possesses nearly unbounded authority to regulate the taking of appeals at law. *See*, *e.g. James*, 479 N.W.2d at 290; *State v. Olsen*, 162 N.W. 781, 782 (Iowa 1917); *State v. Johnson*, 2 Iowa 549, 549 (1856). Because the source of the Supreme Court's authority to decide criminal appeals is through acts of the General Assembly, not the Constitution, it necessarily follows that legislation in this area is consistent with the Separation of Powers.

Indeed, for nearly two hundred years the General Assembly has been active in adding to or subtracting from the Supreme Court's appellate jurisdiction:

• From 1838 into the early years of statehood, the Territorial Legislature and General Assembly authorized the Supreme Court to hear writs of error for non-capital criminal defendants "as a matter of course," whereas the Court only had authority to hear writs in capital cases upon "allowance" of a Judge of the Supreme Court. *See* Iowa Code § 3088, 3090–91 (1851); Iowa Code ch. 47, §§ 76–77 (Terr. 1843); Iowa Code ch. Courts, §§ 76–77, p. 124 (Terr. 1839).

- In the late 19th and into the 20th Century, the district court had authority to hear all appeals from inferior tribunals, often as a trial anew. *See*, *e.g.*, Iowa Code § 6936 (1919) (district court had original and appellate jurisdiction of criminal actions), § 9241 (1919) ("trial anew" for appeals from justice court); § 161 (1873) (district court had original and appellate jurisdiction of criminal actions). The criminal decisions of the district court were, in turn, reviewable by the Supreme Court. *E.g.*, Iowa Code § 9559 (1919); Iowa Code § 4520 (1873).
- From approximately 1924 until 1971, the General Assembly granted the Supreme Court authority to review "by appeal" "any judgment, action, or decision of the district court in a criminal case," for both indictable and non-indictable offenses. *See* Iowa Code § 793.1 (1966) (all criminal cases); § 762.51 (1966) (non-indictable); ch. 658, § 13994 (1924) (all criminal cases); ch. 627, § 13607 (1924) (non-indictable).
- **In 1972**, the General Assembly established the modern unified court system and stripped the Supreme Court of authority to review non-indictable criminal cases, other than by discretionary review. *See* 1972 Iowa Acts, ch. 1124 (64th Gen. Assem., 2nd Sess.); *id.* § 73.1 ("No judgment of conviction of a nonindictable misdemeanor ... shall be appealed to the supreme court except by discretionary review as provided herein."); *id.* § 275 (amending 793.1); *id.* § 282 (repealing 765.51). The General Assembly also entirely stripped the Court of authority to engage in appellate review of acquittals in non-indictable cases. *Id.* § 73.1.
- In 1979, following substantial revisions throughout the criminal portions of the Code, the General Assembly granted the appellate courts authority to hear appeals from all "final judgment[s] of sentence," but again denied the Supreme Court authority to decide appeals from simple-misdemeanor and ordinance-violation convictions absent discretionary review. Iowa Code § 814.6 (1979).

• **In 2019**, the General Assembly stripped the appellate courts of authority to decide appeals following a guilty plea for non-Class A felonies. *See* 2019 Iowa Acts ch. 140, § 28 (88th Gen. Assem.).

Senate File 589 is the latest in a long line of jurisdictionstripping and jurisdiction-conferring statutes. Like the earlier legislation, SF589 variously strips and grants jurisdiction from the appellate courts pursuant to the General Assembly's prerogative to regulate appellate jurisdiction. *See* Iowa Const. Art. V, § 4. This is the Separation of Powers contemplated by the Iowa Framers.

The defendant asserts that while the legislature can "'prescribe' the 'manner' of jurisdiction" that "should not be confused with an ability to remove jurisdiction from the Court." Defendant Br. at 41–2. But the Iowa Constitution allows the General Assemble to "prescribe" the "manner" of *district court* jurisdiction. Iowa Const. art. V, § 6. The Supreme Court, however, "shall constitute a court for the correction of errors at law, under such restrictions as the general assembly may, by law, prescribe." *Id.* at art. V, § 4. In short, the defendant analyzes the wrong provision—the general assembly is not limited to prescribing the manner of the Supreme Court's jurisdiction.

His citation to Matter of Guardianship of Matejski, 419 N.W.2d 576 (Iowa 1988), suffers from the same problem. Defendant Br. at 41–42. *Matejski* is about whether the district court had authority to order a sterilization in the absence of legislation expressly granting or denying that authority. 419 N.W.2d at 576-80. Because no statute removed such cases from the district court's jurisdiction, Matejski does not apply here. Plus, the court analyzed district court jurisdiction under Article V, section 6 of the Iowa Constitution, not Supreme Court jurisdiction under Article V, section 4. Those constitutional provisions have different language. The defendant offers no explanation of why "in such manner" means the same things as "under such restrictions." Compare id. Art. V, § 6, with id. Art. V, § 4. Nor does he grapple with the differing jurisdictional grants. *Id.* Because the defendant analyzes the wrong constitutional provision, his argument lacks force.

Notably, the General Assembly did not remove the Supreme Court's ability to hear appeals from ineffective-assistance claims. It just made PCR the exclusive avenue to litigate such claims. PCR applicants can still appeal the denial of their ineffectiveness claims to

the Supreme Court. Iowa Code § 822.9. Section 814.7 does not violate Separation of Powers.

* * *

This Court need not decide the constitutionality of section 814.7 because the defendant does not actually assert an ineffectiveness claim. But if it does analyze section 814.7's constitutionality, that law passes muster.

III. This Court should continue to reject plain error.

Preservation of Error

The defendant can raise this claim for the first time here.

Standard of Review

To reverse existing precedent, the defendant must make the "highest possible showing." *State v. Brown*, 930 N.W.2d 840, 854 (Iowa 2019).

Merits

The defendant invites this Court to adopt plain error. Defendant Br. at 46–51. But Iowa Courts "do not subscribe to the plain error rule ..., have been persistent and resolute in rejecting it, and are not at all inclined to yield on the point." *E.g.*, *State v. Rutledge*, 600 N.W.2d 324, 325 (Iowa 1999) (citing *State v. McCright*, 569 N.W.2d 605, 607 (Iowa 1997)). The defendant has not satisfied the "highest possible

showing required to overcome stare decisis." *See Brown*, 930 N.W.2d at 854. This Court should therefore decline his invitation.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State requests that this Court affirm the defendant's convictions.

REQUEST FOR NONORAL SUBMISSION

This case is appropriate for nonoral submission.